

RECAP "Research on European Children and Adults born Preterm"

Grant Agreement number: 733280

Deliverable 10.3

Guidelines for quality assurance registers finalised

Work package: Task: Due Date: Actual Submission Date: Last Amendment: Project Dates:

Deliverable Leader: Contributor: WP 10 10.5 30 September 2021 (M57) 28 November 2021 (M59) 28 November 2021 (M59) Project Start Date: January 01, 2017 Project Duration: 57 months Rolf F. Maier Ulrika Aden (KI)

Project co-funded by the European Commission within H2020-SC1-2016-2017/H2020-SC1-2016-RTD		
Dissemination Level		
PU	Public	Х
PP	Restricted to other programme participants (including the Commission Services)	
RE	Restricted to a group specified by the consortium (including the Commission Services)	
СО	Confidential, only for members of the consortium (including the Commission Services)	

Document History:

Version	Date	Changes	From	Review
V0.1	19.11.2021	First version	UMR	TNO/UoW
V1.0	28.11.2021	Final verion	UMR	TNO

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This document comprises recommendations and suggestions for quality assurance registers concerning people born very preterm (VPT; below 32 weeks of gestational age) or with a very low birth weight (VLBW; below 1,500 g). It represents a summary and essence of deliverables of several particular work packages within the RECAP preterm project.

VPT/VLBW cohorts are complex structures that need continued attention to timeliness, recruitment, attrition and quality of collected information in order to ensure high scientific standards and to allow appropriate translation into clinical practice or policy action.

Quality assurance registers are unique tools which can provide new scientific information and can deliver a comprehensive picture of consequences of VPT/VLBW birth over time. They are useful tools for clinicians, when making decisions in neonatal care of VPT/VLBW infants, for clinicians, when counseling parents with imminent VPT/VLBW birth or with VPT/VLBW infants, for researchers, when designing studies involving infants, children or adults born VPT/VLBW. They help to improve the care and outcome of individual VPT/VLBW individuals and the health care structures for VPT/VLBW infants.

Abbv	Participant Organization Name	Country
UMR	Philipps University Marburg	Germany
KI	Karolinska Institutet Stockholm	Sweden
EFCNI	European Foundation for the Care of Newborn Infants	Germany

RECAP Consortium Partners

OPEN ISSUES

No:	Date	Issue	Resolved
1			

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Executive summary	2	
Open issues		
Table of contents	4	
1 Introduction	5	
1.1 Purpose and Scope	5	
1.2 References to other RECAP Documents	5	
1.3 Definitions, Abbreviations and Acronyms	6	
2 Background	7	
3 Development And Target Groups of This document	9	
3.1 Development	9	
3.2 Target population	9	
3.2 Target readers and users	9	
4 Specific Aspects of VPT/VLBW Cohorts1	0	
4.1 Inclusion criteria and sample size	0	
4.2 Gender aspects	0	
4.3 Environmental factors	1	
5 Ethical and legal aspects of VPT/VLBW registers1	2	
6 Minimum data set For VPT/VLBW registers1	3	
7 Recruitment for and retention in VPT/VLBW cohorts		
8 Infrastructure for cooperation in networks		
9 Statistical Analyses		
.0 Follow-up		
1 Selection of Themes for future research		
12 Conclusion and outlook2	0	
13 Literature references		

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Purpose and Scope

The RECAP preterm project's overall aim was to investigate and improve the health, development and quality of life of children and adults born very preterm (VPT; below 32 weeks of gestational age) or with a very low birth weight (VLBW; below 1,500 g) by establishing an ICT (information and communications technology) platform to integrate, harmonize and exploit the wealth of data from European and international cohorts of VPT/VLBW children and adults and their families constituted from the early 1980s to the present, together with data from national registers.

One particular aim was to develop recommendations for quality assurance registers for VPT/VLBW individuals based on the experience and the results from this project with respect to the organization and handling of large VPT/VLBW cohorts. For this purpose, the RECAP preterm project sought to develop standardized data on VPT/VLBW infants, children and adults that can be used for valid comparisons across studies, facilities and countries. The results form a basis for guidelines about the types of data to be included in quality assurance registers or audits in obstetric and pediatric hospitals.

This document intends to summarize and emphasize aspects to be considered when planning, conducting and analyzing such registers and when combining several cohorts and registers for meta-analyses based on the experiences of the RECAP preterm project.

1.2 References to other RECAP Documents

- RECAP Description of Work (Proposal)
- D2.2 Discussion manuscript re: 1) the ethics of research on data relating to vulnerable groups. 2) the consequences of the GDPR for reusing data of older cohorts
- D2.3 Recommendation manuscript on legal and ethical arrangements for data sharing
- D2.5 Article about Legal and Ethical tools for Data sharing
- D3.1 Meta-data catalogue with cross-cohort mapping
- D3.2 Report of cohort descriptions to aid future research
- D5.1 Report on a unifying missing data perspective to IPD problems
- D6.1 Report on available strategies for follow-up with strengths and limitations, including results of studies of children, parents and health care professionals

- D6.4 Report describing the performance of the designed tools and the results of the research projects
- D7.1. Report on priority research themes and approaches for a European platform
- D8.1 Common protocols for register studies
- D8.2 Data structure matrix for register data
- D9.2 Report of statistical analyses for identification of universal vs. culture specific outcomes; promotive and resiliency factors

1.3 Definitions, Abbreviations and Acronyms

Abbreviation/ Acronym	DEFINITION
СР	Cerebral palsy
FAIR	Findable, Accessible, Interoperable, Reusable
GDPR	General Data Protection Regulation
ICT	Information and communications technology
NICU	Neonatal intensive care unit
VLBW	Very low birth weight
VPT	Very preterm
WP	Work package

Table 1 List of Abbreviations and Acronyms

2 BACKGROUND

Every year approximately 50,000 infants are born very preterm (VPT; below 32 weeks of gestational age) or with a very low birth weight (VLBW; below 1,500 g) in Europe. VPT/VLBW births constitute fewer than 2 % of all births across Europe, but they account for up to half of perinatal and infant deaths, children with impairments and disabilities and more than a third of the health and educational budgets for children [45]. While survival of these children has increased markedly over the last decades, they are at higher risk of visual and auditory deficits, poor respiratory outcomes, cerebral palsy (CP), impaired motor and cognitive ability and psychiatric disorders than children born at term [12, 15, 17, 20, 24, 30, 42, 51]. Up to a third of these children and their parents face a life course with significant morbidity, dependency and socioeconomic challenges [21]. They have an increased risk for poor academic attainment and special educational needs compared with their term-born peers [8, 18, 22, 26]. VPT/VLBW children and adolescents have also been found to have more emotional disorders such as anxiety, depression, social withdrawal and difficulties making friends [21, 31]. They are more likely to become the target of social exclusion such as being bullied with long term consequences on mental health [50]. Apart from physical health, studies suggest that mental health, quality of life, partnering, family life and employment chances and wealth may be adversely affected in adults born VPT/VLBW [4, 6, 14, 28, 36, 39, 48].

Obstetric and neonatal care as well as the knowledge about underlying causes of VPT/VLBW birth have evolved over the past decades. As a consequence, survival at the lower end of gestation has increased, but it is still unclear whether developmental outcome has similarly improved [2, 46, 53].

Evidence-based information about prognosis and future complications are needed to assess the effectiveness of medical care and social programs, make the best decisions for these children and intervene early to prevent or mitigate health and developmental problems.

Studies which have compared mortality across countries and neonatal units using comparable indicators have revealed large survival differences among VPT/VLBW births after adjusting for differences in patient characteristics [11, 29, 52]. The existence of disparities in risk-adjusted mortality suggests that substantial gains in survival are possible using current medical knowledge [1, 11, 16, 40, 54]. Studies showing variations across national cohorts in survival and neonatal outcomes suggest that evidence-based perinatal care is not optimally applied in

Europe and raise the possibility that substantial gains could be achieved if known best practices were more broadly applied [54]. Comparisons of practices for the care of VPT/VLBW infants across countries and units supports this assertion, as practices are not always consistent with the best scientific evidence, including non-use of treatments shown to be effective and safe and use of others for which evidence is limited or where safety is of concern [7, 8, 13, 41, 43, 47, 54]. Comparative descriptive data on outcomes and health care are a key tool underpinning evidence-based policy and research.

It is unclear which outcomes of VPT/VLBW infants are universal and which vary according to either obstetrical or neonatal management, the available social or educational support or the cultural context. Identifying modifiable factors is key to effective policy development and intervention.

Quality assurance registers can build unique sources of information on the incidence and risk factors of VPT/VLBW birth, efficacy and safety of particular treatment options, short-term and long-term outcome of VPT/VLBW children and adults, the burden of VPT/VLBW birth for the child, the family, the health care system and the society and offers the chance for epidemiologic and clinical changes ahead.

3 DEVELOPMENT AND TARGET GROUPS OF THIS DOCUMENT

3.1 Development

This document results from the RECAP preterm project and represents a summary and essence of deliverables of several particular work packages (WPs) within this project.

3.2 Target population

This document refers to people born very preterm (VPT) or with very low birth weight (VLBW) independently of their actual age, thus including concerned infants, children and adults, and to their families.

3.2 Target readers and users

This document is directed to a broad range of stakeholders from multiple disciplines dealing with and related to people born VPT/VLBW. This includes in particular the research community, clinicians and health care providers, physicians, psychologists, social workers, educators, patients, individuals born VPT/VLBW, parents of VPT/VLBW infants and their organizations, public health decision-makers, economists, health insurance companies, policy makers and the interested general public.

4 SPECIFIC ASPECTS OF VPT/VLBW COHORTS

4.1 Inclusion criteria and sample size

VPT/VLBW cohorts are distinct from general population birth registers in that they cover all VPT/VLBW infants and provide detailed documentation on the obstetrical and neonatal medical characteristics, complications and treatments that are needed for research on this population. These data items require precise protocols for measurement in order to provide valid and comparable results, and are therefore often not realistic in general birth cohorts where they are not relevant for 98 % of included infants.

VPT/VLBW cohorts follow a population-based design – as opposed to networks of selected specialized units – in order to increase validity and ensure representativeness. As VPT/VLBW infants represent a heterogeneous group and are only about 2 % of the overall population of births, it is particularly challenging to achieve adequate sample sizes to obtain robust results in this particular population. Getting an adequate sample size needs a large geographic spread and a long inclusion period.

VPT/VLBW birth has multiple causes and many consequences that are potentially mediated by its etiology, medical care provided to the mother or child, pediatric, social and educational support and the social and economic environment. The low prevalence of some outcomes after VPT/VLBW birth require large samples to allow for accurate risk estimates and inference. Unfortunately, individual cohorts do not usually have sufficient sample sizes for in-depth analyses of many key sub-groups which represent only a small fraction of all births. Further, each cohort is anchored in its time and place and the generalizability of findings to other settings and other age groups cannot be addressed.

Combining several cohorts and registers is a promising instrument to solve the problem of inadequate sample sizes (see below).

4.2 Gender aspects

VPT/VLBW cohorts and registers must address key issues related to gender because developmental differences between girls and boys may create gender-specific intervention effects due to biological as well as socio-cultural factors. The experiences of parents may also differ by gender and therefore both mothers and fathers should be considered.

Some different outcomes between girls and boys may reflect more general differences in the development of girls and boys which affect the impact of specific impairments, such as brain

lesions or respiratory morbidity on later health, development and behavior. However, it may also reflect differences in vulnerability to the sequels of VPT/VLBW birth by gender [33, 37, 44]. Statistical models should adjust for the gender of the child and interaction terms with key exposures should be assessed.

Gender is also an important consideration in the assessment of family experiences, as mothers and fathers have been shown to react differently both to the event of VPT/VLBW birth and admission to NICU, and to the care of a child with chronic disease [3, 19, 38].

4.3 Environmental factors

Most VPT/VLBW cohort studies have so far focused on assessing medical and biological factors associated with VPT/VLBW birth. Overall, it was found that VPT/VLBW studies, with very few exceptions, have in the past failed to assess a sufficient range of environmental factors that are modifiable and would be relevant for targeting of early prevention and intervention programs. The inclusion of sociodemographic data and environmental factors in future assessments will be fundamental in unravelling what factors across life may change the developmental trajectories of individuals born VPT/VLBW and inform interventions and health policies. Identification of protective and resilience factors across adult VPT/VLBW cohorts are needed. Registers with large sample sizes give excellent opportunities for conducting extensive adjustments for potential confounders in the analyses. As longitudinal data are always at risk, that bias is introduced due to temporal trend(s), factors associated with time should always be considered.

5 ETHICAL AND LEGAL ASPECTS OF VPT/VLBW REGISTERS

Establishing and continuing cohorts or registers of VPT/VLBW infants includes a complex set of ethical and legal aspects to be considered. This applies even more when a merge of several cohorts or registers from different countries is intended. Most of all ethical and legal aspects are connected with privacy and data protection. General and specific rules have to be followed and national and international regulations to be respected [32, 34].

Sampling, storing and analyzing data of cohorts or registers must be compliant with the Helsinki Declaration of Ethical Principles in Medical Research and must be approved by national authorities or local Medical-Ethical Committees in the country of origin of each cohort.

The most important ethical issue is that the cohort or register participants were or may still be a vulnerable group. They still are or were minors at the time of data collection with informed consent provided by the parents.

Researchers within registers must agree on and organize privacy, ethical, legal and scientific aspects, data sharing and data access, taking into account requirements with respect to reuse and access of available data, with a particular focus on vulnerable people.

During long follow-up periods rules and insights may change with large country-specific variations with respect to data protection.

Within the RECAP preterm project, rules were established for a sustainable European governance model to share and integrate data from a large number of different cohorts on children and adults born VPT/VLBW and to perform research on the combined data, in line with the ethical and legal requirements and the EU General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) with respect to data sharing and big data analyses and in line with the FAIR (Findable, Accessible, Interoperable, Reusable) principles of data management. The governance model includes specific legal arrangements for data access, authorization and data transfer agreements, the conditions for the secure handling of those data and arrangements for individual feed-back on results of research.

6 MINIMUM DATA SET FOR VPT/VLBW REGISTERS

Many of the studies reporting neonatal mortality and morbidity as well as long term outcome of infants born VPT/VLBW are almost impossible to compare because of the multiple definitions used and the heterogenous items obtained. For sharing of individual patient data from VPT/VLBW birth cohorts and registers, mapping and harmonization of the data items available in these cohorts is necessary, on both already collected and newly acquired data.

To ensure that consistent terms are used across future studies, the RECAP preterm consortium suggests a universal list of terminologies and definitions. To facilitate pooling of individual patient data from VPT/VLBW birth cohorts and registers, to increase statistical power and enhance international comparison a framework was provided for standardizing existing data and informing on-going and future data collection. This framework helps to develop comparable indicators for benchmarking survival, morbidity and long-term outcome in VPT/VLBW cohorts and registers.

A list of data items that is the minimum that should be measured and reported in all VPT/VLBW birth cohorts and registers was developed within the RECAP preterm project using a consultation methodology: Using several steps of a Delphi consensus process with experts including researchers, clinicians, people concerned and parents, a subset of variables for measurement and classification of exposures and outcomes that most frequently occur in participating VPT/VLBW cohort studies was identified. The resulting minimum data set on VPT/VLBW infants, children and adults will facilitate future collaborative work by ensuring variables are comparable across different studies, facilities and countries and can be used for valid benchmarking in quality assurance registers.

7 RECRUITMENT FOR AND RETENTION IN VPT/VLBW COHORTS

The recruitment of VPT/VLBW cohorts and registers require participation of all maternity and neonatal units within a defined area, the commitment of health personnel and parents.

One of the major problems for VPT/VLBW cohorts is the declining participation willingness, while at the same more data are available routinely in administrative databases and new methods for maintaining contact with participants and collecting data are becoming available. The steadily declining participation rate in epidemiologic studies over the past few decades has raised concerns regarding representativeness and study validity.

Also, retention of participants in cohort studies and registers, especially during long follow-up periods, is a major challenge and a critical limiting factor. During the last few decades, also retention rates in VPT/VLBW cohorts have declined following the observed general trend in population studies.

VPT/VLBW birth is associated with social and economic risk factors such as low parental educational status, poverty, migrant status and social isolation, which are also often negatively associated with child health and development. These factors are also associated with selective dropout of VPT/VLBW cohorts [49].

Within the RECAP preterm project, the perspectives of parents, healthcare professionals and researchers on participant retention in longitudinal cohorts across diverse socio-geographic and cultural settings were collected and motivations, deterrents and facilitators for participation and retention in long-term studies were identified [27].

Decreasing study enrolment rates and higher rates of loss to follow up of enrollees (manifested by missed appointments, unavailability to complete specific questionnaires, and missing scheduled interval exams) are indicative of study fatigue and a decreased commitment to longitudinal investigations among populations and participants. Additionally, traditional recruitment and engagement approaches such as face-to-face assessments are costly, have complex logistics and have demonstrated only limited success in improving study participation.

New approaches are therefore needed to augment participation in longitudinal cohort studies and to assure the quality of information collected. Current generations of children born VPT/VLBW are growing up using smart phones and about 95 % of the European population has internet access. New strategies to recruit and to bond the participants to cohort studies and registers include smart phones (e.g., calls, voicemail, texting), social media, and dedicated websites. The leveraging of web-based interventions must necessarily be participant-centered: utilizing a gamification approach and involving the active participation of target populations in setting the scientific and research agenda. However, electronic methods are just one tool in the tool set needed to get high participation. As those with disabilities may have more problems in access to electronic media and problems with completing, face to face visits will need to remain to reduce bias towards the "well off". In this context, particular attention must be given to ensuring that electronic tools are data protection compliant.

8 INFRASTRUCTURE FOR COOPERATION IN NETWORKS

Research on VPT/VLBW survival and long-term outcomes necessarily needs large sample sizes and longitudinal designs. New cohorts have to be reconstituted over time and results need to be compared across cohorts.

Within the RECAP preterm project, an ICT (information and communications technology) platform was established, which represents a sustainable, geographically diverse and multidisciplinary database of national and European cohorts and registers of children and adults born VPT/VLBW.

The RECAP preterm platform makes it possible to increase the power and generalizability of research on VPT/VLBW individuals. The broad temporal, geographic, cultural and health system diversity makes it possible to study the impact of socioeconomic and organizational contexts and determines the generalizability of outcomes for VPT/VLBW populations.

The large sample sizes achieved by pooling data allows for stratified sub-group analyses of sociodemographic and clinical characteristics, neonatal complications and less prevalent medical conditions which currently cannot studied even in large national cohorts.

These analyses are needed for a better understanding of the origins of VPT/VLBW health and developmental outcomes and for more effective, evidence-based, personalized interventions and prevention. Given their historical richness, combining data across cohorts also makes it possible to evaluate changes in outcomes over time, providing important information on how the evolution in care and survival of these high-risk babies has changed their developmental outcomes and quality of life.

9 STATISTICAL ANALYSES

Lacking adherence to appointments and increasing attrition of participants in longitudinal studies over time provoke missing values lowering the validity of cohort studies and registers.

A specific work package (WP) within the RECAP preterm project describes a unifying missing data perspective to problems related to combining individual patient data for cohorts that track VPT/VLBW children. Multiple imputation represents a generic solution. When properly executed, this approach results in appropriate statistical estimates and may be especially beneficial to solve data combination problems for which no proper solution yet exists, or for augmenting existing procedure for which there is no good quantification of the uncertainty caused by data combination.

10 FOLLOW-UP

Many studies in VPT/VLBW infants stopped data acquisition at the time of discharge from the neonatal unit. With this approach, the results are restricted to mortality and morbidity during the neonatal period. However, the aim of neonatal care is a long-term outcome similar to that of infants born at term and a normal quality of life.

As the consequences of VPT/VLBW birth are highly heterogeneous and can only be fully assessed in childhood, adolescence or even adulthood, the evaluation requires long-term follow-up until adulthood. The real extent of impairment and impact on quality of life, as well as the child's compensatory mechanisms and potential, clarifies only with time. At first discharge home from neonatal hospitalization the long-term prognosis for each individual child is in most cases unknown and it is not possible to identify with certainty children who will develop specific impairments, how long they will last nor determine their severity.

While the likelihood of developing specific neurological impairments is associated with biological risk factors and the clinical course during hospitalization, many infants with well-known risk factors will never develop an impairment, while others without known risk factors may experience poor long-term neurodevelopmental outcomes. Social and environmental factors need to be taken into account in predicting long-term outcome. Timeliness of identification of health problems, and quality of care provided, may also modulate outcomes.

Follow-up, however, consumes significant resources because of the multidisciplinary specialized staff needed for clinical and developmental assessments and interventions, and the logistics and coordination required to maintain contact with children after discharge. Therefore, implementation of follow-up programs must be evaluated with regard to their cost-effectiveness [35]. Nevertheless, routine follow-up should be implemented at least at 2 years of corrected age and at transition to school as a minimum. This is also to provide quality assurance of the neonatal care.

11 SELECTION OF THEMES FOR FUTURE RESEARCH

Quality assurance registers represent a valuable source for future research. Themes for research on health and care of VPT/VLBW children and adults should be developed based on the input from researchers, clinicians, educators, policy makers, persons concerned and their families [55]. Biological, clinical, and socioeconomic determinants of disease and health outcomes associated with VPT/VLBW birth should be identified in order to facilitate risk and resiliency assessments, thus allowing for the development of evidence-based, stratified, and personalized guidelines and policies for health maintenance, screening, early diagnosis, and intervention.

Future research should include short-term and long-term effects of interventions currently applied for VPT/VLBW infants such as medication, ventilation and nutrition and their interaction with genetics, clinical factors and the social and educational environment in order to identify and develop individualized diagnostic, preventive and therapeutic interventions.

Specific subgroups should be identified to make preventive and curative treatments more effective and efficient. It should also be identified what are the universal protective factors and resilience mechanisms that optimally enhance the life chances of VPT/VLBW infants and influence health, social and economic outcomes of adults born VPT/VLBW [25].

Future research should also carry out research on the families of VPT/VLBW children. Parents are faced with multiples stressors during their infant's hospitalization and often have to master the challenge of dealing with multiple births. Stress can lead to increased risk of postnatal mental illness such as depression, leading to poorer caretaking [23]. However, there is also remarkable evidence for the resilience of parents showing that mothers of VPT/VLBW infants are as sensitive in their interaction with their offspring as mothers of term born infants despite their stress experience [5].

The level of information, care and support received by families of VPT/VLBW infants still differs widely across Europe. The involvement of user organizations and families is another important component of future study planning.

A structured consensus process with stakeholders, including researchers, health care professionals, people concerned, families and user organizations, should be made at all levels of planning and implementation of studies, making the path from ideas to application a comprehensive one.

12 CONCLUSION AND OUTLOOK

VPT/VLBW cohorts are complex research structures that need continued attention to timeliness, recruitment, attrition and quality of collected information in order to ensure high scientific standards and to allow appropriate translation into clinical practice or policy action.

The RECAP preterm project sought to develop standardized data on VPT/VLBW infants, children and adults that can be used for valid comparisons across studies, facilities and countries. These results form a basis for guidelines about the types of data that should be included in quality assurance registers or audits in obstetric and pediatric hospitals.

Like in other patient groups [10], quality assurance registers are unique tools which can provide new scientific information and can deliver a comprehensive picture of consequences of VPT/VLBW birth over time. They are useful tools for clinicians, when making decisions in neonatal care of VPT/VLBW infants, for clinicians, when counseling parents with imminent VPT/VLBW birth or with VPT/VLBW infants, for researchers, when designing studies involving infants, children or adults born VPT/VLBW. They help to improve the care and outcome of VPT/VLBW individuals and the health care structures for VPT/VLBW infants. The following table comprises what can be learned from the RECAP preterm project for cohort studies and quality assurance registers in people born very preterm (VPT) or with very low birthweight (VLBW).

Торіс	Recommendation	Rationale
Inclusion	Population based over a long time	Validity and representativeness
Sample size	• Adequate numbers over a long period	• Small and heterogenous population
	• Combination of several cohorts	• Low prevalence of some outcomes
Duration	From birth until adulthood	Consideration of long-term consequences
Recruitment and retention	Diverse set of tools including electronic tools	High attrition rate over time
Follow up	At least at 2 years corrected age and at school entry	For quality assurance in neonatology
Confounders	 Consideration of gender Consideration of social and other environmental factors 	• Differences in some outcomes between girls and boys
		• Large influence of environment across life span
Legal and ethical aspects	Compliance with international, national and local regulations	Privacy protection of participants
Infrastructure	Cooperation in networks	Increased sample size by pooling

13 LITERATURE REFERENCES

- 1. Alleman BW, Bell EF, Li L, et al. Individual and center-level factors affecting mortality among extremely low birth weight infants. Pediatrics 2013;132:e175-84.
- 2. Ancel PY, Goffinet F, Group E-W, et al. Survival and morbidity of preterm children born at 22 through 34 weeks' gestation in France in 2011: results of the EPIPAGE-2 cohort study. JAMA Pediatr 2015;169:230-8.
- 3. Arockiasamy V, Holsti L, Albersheim S. Fathers' experiences in the neonatal intensive care unit: a search for control. Pediatrics 2008;121:e215-22.
- 4. Baumann N, Bartmann P, Wolke D. Health-related quality of life into adulthood after very preterm birth. Pediatrics 2016;137:e20153148.
- 5. Bilgin A, Wolke D. Maternal sensitivity in parenting preterm children: A meta-analysis. Pediatrics 2015;136:e177-93.
- 6. Breeman LD, Jaekel J, Baumann N, et al. Preterm cognitive function into adulthood. Pediatrics 2015;136:415-23.
- 7. Brok J, Greisen G, Madsen LP, et al. Agreement between Cochrane neonatal reviews and clinical practice guidelines for newborns in Denmark: a cross-sectional study. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 2008;93:F225-9.
- 8. Chan E, Quigley MA. School performance at age 7 years in late preterm and early term birth: a cohort study. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 2014;99:451-7.
- 9. Chien LY, Ohlsson A, Seshia MM, et al. Variations in antenatal corticosteroid therapy: a persistent problem despite 30 years of evidence. Obstet Gynecol 2002;99:401-8.
- 10. Coebergh JW, van den Hurk C, Louwman M, et al. EUROCOURSE recipe for cancer surveillance by visible population-based cancer RegisTrees in Europe: From roots to fruits. Eur J Cancer 2015;51:1050-63.
- 11. Draper ES, Zeitlin J, Fenton AC, et al. Investigating the variations in survival rates for very preterm infants in 10 European regions: the MOSAIC birth cohort. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 2009;94:F158-63.
- 12. Draper ES, Zeitlin J, Manktelow BN, et al. EPICE cohort: two-year neurodevelopmental outcomes after very preterm birth. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 2020;105:350-6.
- 13. Empana JP, Anceschi MM, Szabo I, et al. Antenatal corticosteroids policies in 14 European countries: factors associated with multiple courses. The EURAIL survey. Acta Paediatr 2004;93:1318-22.
- 14. Eryigit Madzwamuse S, Baumann N, Jaekel J, et al. Neuro-cognitive performance of very preterm or very low birth weight adults at 26 years. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2015;56:857-64.

- 15. Express Group. Incidence of and risk factors for neonatal morbidity after active perinatal care: extremely preterm infants study in Sweden (EXPRESS). Acta Paediatr 2010;99:978-92.
- 16. Hayter MA, Anderson L, Claydon J, et al. Variations in early and intermediate neonatal outcomes for inborn infants admitted to a Canadian NICU and born of hypertensive pregnancies. J Obstet Gynaecol Can 2005;27:25-32.
- 17. Hille ET, den Ouden AL, Saigal S, et al. Behavioural problems in children who weigh 1000 g or less at birth in four countries. Lancet 2001;357:1641-3.
- 18. Jaekel J, Wolke D. Preterm birth and dyscalculia. J Pediatr 2014;164:1327-32.
- 19. Johnson AN. Engaging fathers in the NICU: taking down the barriers to the baby. J Perinat Neonatal Nurs 2008;22:302-6.
- 20. Johnson S, Hollis C, Kochhar P, et al. Autism spectrum disorders in extremely preterm children. J Pediatr 2010;156:525-31.e2.
- 21. Johnson S, Wolke D. Behavioural outcomes and psychopathology during adolescence. Early Hum Dev 2013;89:199-207.
- 22. Johnson S, Gilmore C, Gallimore I, et al. The long-term consequences of preterm birth: what do teachers know? Dev Med Child Neurol 2015;57:571-7.
- 23. Kurstjens S, Wolke D. Effects of maternal depression on cognitive development of children over the first 7 years of life. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2001;42:623-36.
- 24. Larroque B, Ancel PY, Marret S, et al. Neurodevelopmental disabilities and special care of 5-year-old children born before 33 weeks of gestation (the EPIPAGE study): a longitudinal cohort study. Lancet 2008;371:813-20.
- 25. Luthar SS, Cicchetti D, Becker B. The construct of resilience: A critical evaluation and guidelines for future work. Child Dev 2000;71:543-62.
- 26. MacKay DF, Smith GCS, Dobbie R, et al. Gestational age at delivery and special educational need: Retrospective cohort study of 407,503 schoolchildren. PLoS Med 2010;7:e1000289.
- 27. Marques SCS, Doetsch J, Abate G, et al. Understanding participation in European cohort studies of preterm children: the views of parents, healthcare professionals and researchers. BMC Med Res Methodol 2021;21:19.
- 28. Mendonça M, Bilgin A, Wolke D. Association of preterm birth and low birth weight with romantic partnership, sexual intercourse, and parenthood in adulthood: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. JAMA Netw Open 2019;2:e196961.
- 29. Mohangoo AD, Buitendijk SE, Szamotulska K, et al. Gestational age patterns of fetal and neonatal mortality in europe: results from the Euro-Peristat project. PloS One 2011;6:e24727.

- 30. Moore T, Hennessy EM, Myles J, et al. Neurological and developmental outcome in extremely preterm children born in England in 1995 and 2006: the EPICure studies. BMJ 2012;345:e7961.
- 31. Moster D, Lie RT, Markestad T. Long-term medical and social consequences of preterm birth. N Engl J Med 2008;359:262-73.
- 32. Mostert M, Bredenoord AL, Biesaart MC, et al. Big Data in medical research and EU data protection law: challenges to the consent or anonymise approach. Eur J Hum Genet 2016;24:1096.
- 33. Neubauer V, Griesmaier E, Ralser E, Kiechl-Kohlendorfer U. The effect of sex on outcome of preterm infants a population-based survey. Acta Paediatr 2012;101:906-11.
- 34. Ohmann C, Banzi R, Canham S, et al. Sharing and reuse of individual participant data from clinical trials: principles and recommendations. BMJ Open 2017;7:e018647.
- 35. Orton J, Spittle A, Doyle L, et al. Do early intervention programmes improve cognitive and motor outcomes for preterm infants after discharge? A systematic review. Dev Med Child Neurol 2009;51:851-9.
- 36. Pascal A, Govaert P, Oostra A, et al. Neurodevelopmental outcome in very preterm and very-low-birthweight infants born over the past decade: a meta-analytic review. Dev Med Child Neurol 2018;60:342-55.
- 37. Peacock JL, Marston L, Marlow N, Calvert SA, Greenough A. Neonatal and infant outcome in boys and girls born very prematurely. Pediatr Res 2012;71:305-10.
- 38. Pelchat D, Lefebvre H, Perreault M. Differences and similarities between mothers' and fathers' experiences of parenting a child with a disability. J Child Health Care 2003;7:231-47.
- 39. Petrou S, Eddama O, Mangham L. A structured review of the recent literature on the economic consequences of preterm birth. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 2011;96:F225-32.
- 40. Rogowski JA, Horbar JD, Staiger DO, et al. Indirect vs direct hospital quality indicators for very low-birth-weight infants. JAMA 2004;291:202-9.
- 41. Sasi A, Sehgal A. Use of inhaled nitric oxide in preterm infants: a regional survey of practices. Heart Lung 2014;43:347-50.
- 42. Serenius F, Kallen K, Blennow M, et al. Neurodevelopmental outcome in extremely preterm infants at 2.5 years after active perinatal care in Sweden. JAMA 2013;309:1810-20.
- 43. Sharma A, Greenough A. Survey of neonatal respiratory support strategies. Acta Paediatr 2007;96:1115-7.

- 44. Skiold B, Alexandrou G, Padilla N, et al. Sex differences in outcome and associations with neonatal brain morphology in extremely preterm children. J Pediatr 2014;164:1012-8.
- 45. Thanh NX, Toye J, Savu A, et al. Health service use and costs associated with low birth weight A population level analysis. J Pediatr 2015;167:551-56.e3.
- 46. Torchin H, Morgan AS, Ancel P-Y, et al. International comparisons of neurodevelopmental outcomes in infants born very preterm. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med 2020;25:101109.
- 47. Truffert P, Empana JP, Breart G, et al. Treatment strategies for bronchopulmonary dysplasia with postnatal corticosteroids in Europe: the EURAIL survey. Acta Paediatr 2003;92:948-51.
- 48. Verrips E, Vogels T, Saigal S, et al. Health-related quality of life for extremely low birth weight adolescents in Canada, Germany, and the Netherlands. Pediatrics 2008;122:556-61.
- 49. Wolke D, Waylen A, Samara M, et al. Selective drop-out in longitudinal studies and non-biased prediction of behaviour disorders. Br J Psychiatry 2009;195:249-56.
- 50. Wolke D, Baumann N, Strauss V, et al. Bullying of preterm children and emotional problems at school age: cross-culturally invariant effects. J Pediatr 2015;166:1417-22.
- 51. Wood NS, Marlow N, Costeloe K, et al. Neurologic and developmental disability after extremely preterm birth. EPICure Study Group. N Engl J Med 2000;343:378-84.
- 52. Zeitlin J, Draper ES, Kollee L, et al. Differences in rates and short-term outcome of live births before 32 weeks of gestation in Europe in 2003: results from the MOSAIC cohort. Pediatrics 2008;121:e936-44.
- 53. Zeitlin J, Ancel PY. Interpreting data on the health outcomes of extremely preterm babies. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 2011;96:314-6.
- 54. Zeitlin J, Manktelow BN, Piedvache A, et al. Use of evidence based practices to improve survival without severe morbidity for very preterm infants: results from the EPICE population based cohort. BMJ 2016;354:i2976.
- 55. Zeitlin J, Sentenac M, Morgan AS, et al. Priorities for collaborative research using very preterm birth cohorts. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 2020;105:538-44.